STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUL 26 2022

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY

SC Court of Appeals

HONORABLE BENJAMIN H. COLBERTSON

CARLOS DENNISON

APPELLANT

v.

GEORGETOWN CITY

POLICE DEPARTMENT, ET AL

RESPONDENT

APPELLANT CASE NO. 2022-000948

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CARLOS DENNISON

PRO SE

1516 OLD GILTIARD RD.
RIDGEVILLE, S.C 29472

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER TRIAL COURT ERRORED IN GRANTING
SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR RESPONDENTS JUNE 23, 2022.
FURTHERMORE, DID TRIAL COURT AND DEFENDANTS PURPOSELY
FILE AND ALLOWED A PIOUS MOTION TO ABUSE
LEGAL PROCEDURE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

JUNE 20, 18 APPELLANT WAS ARRESTED ON FIVE(5)
ARREST WARRANTS. 2018A2220200078, 79, 80, 120, AND
133. CONTRABAND WAS FOUND ON APPELLANT PERSONS.
APPELLANT WAS CHARGED WITH TWO(2) MORE ARREST
WARRANTS 2018A2220200345, AND 346. JULY 8-10 2019
APPELLANT WENT TO TRIAL FOR THE TWO(2) WARRANTS,
2018A2220200345, AND 346. IN THE TRIAL APPELLANT FILE
A "DEFECTIVE WARRANT" MOTION, AND THE MOTION
WAS DENIED. APPELLANT WAS CONVICTED AND SENTENCED TO
TWO(2) TEN(10) YEAR SENTENCE RAN CONCURRENT.
APPELLANT APPEALED HIS CASE. CASE # "2019-001161"
APPELLANT LAWYER AT THE TIME WAS

"JOANNA DELANY" AND SHE DID NOT BRIEF THE
"DEFECTIVE WARRANT MOTION" OR ANY ISSUE
PERTAINING TO THE ISSUING SUBJECT'S SIGNATURE ON THE
FOUR (4) ARREST WARRANTS, BETWEEN AUGUST 2019 TO
JANUARY 2020 APPELLANT FOUND OUT THE FIVE (5) ARREST
WARRANTS 2018A2220200078, 79, 80, 120, AND 133 WERE DIS-
MISSED. ON MARCH 8, 2021 APPELLANT FILE A COMPLAINT
"2021-CP-22-00158" WITH EXHIBITS AS EVIDENCE.
MAY 21, 2021 THE RESPONDENTS REPLY WITH "THE ANSWER".
SEPTEMBER 9, 2021 APPELLANT MOVE FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.
CIRCUIT JUDGE DENIED THE MOTION STATING: "THE
SIGNATURES HAS TO GO TO TRIAL" AND THE RESPONDENTS
STATED: "WE HAVE TO GET MORE DISCOVERY!" APPELLANT TRY TO
APPEAL THE JUDGE'S DECISION OF THE SEPT. 9, 2021 HEARING,
BUT THE CASE WAS PLACE ON THE TRIAL DOCKET.
JUNE 20, 2022 APPELLANT AND RESPONDENTS HAD A MEDIATION
HEARING. APPELLANT WANTED \$500,000.00, RELEASE FROM
PRISON, AND A CAB RIDING BACK TO 215 N. CONDON ST.
GEORGETOWN, S.C. BOTH PARTIES COULD NOT COME TO AN
AGREEMENT. JUNE 23, 2022 RESPONDENTS FILE FOR SUMMARY

JUDGMENT, AND CIRCUIT JUDGES GRANTED RESPONDENTS

SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

SUMMARY JUDGMENT PAPERS FILED BY THE MOVANT MUST SEEK TO ESTABLISH THAT THERE EXIST NO GENUINE DISPUTE WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIAL FACTS OF THE CASE, IF THE MOVANT SATISFIES THAT REQUIREMENT, THE NON-MOVANT MUST POINT TO EVIDENCE SHOWING THAT A GENUINE DISPUTE OF MATERIAL FACT DOES EXIST

ARGUMENT

TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED APPELLANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT SEPT. 9, 2021; FURTHERMORE TRIAL COURT ERRED GRANTING RESPONDENT SUMMARY JUDGMENT JUNE 23, 2022

— AT THE HEARING, APPELLANT RAISED A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT WITH RESPECT TO THE AUTHENTICITY OF ROBERT O'DONNELL, RH O'DONNELL SIGNATURE, AS ISSUING JUDGE TO SAZO WARRANTS, SEPT. 9, 2021 AND JUNE 23, 2022

- CIRCUIT COURT GRANTING OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR RESPONDENTS AS STATED: "THIS COURT FINDS THAT PLAINTIFF'S PRIOR MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PREMATURE AS DISCOVERY WAS INCOMPLETE. DEFENDANT'S MOTION WAS FILED AFTER SUFFICIENT DISCOVERY WAS CONDUCTED AND TRIAL TRANSCRIPT FROM RELATED CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS HAD BEEN OBTAINED."

- APPELLANT PRODUCED THE SAME EVIDENCE AS EXHIBIT: I IN THE SEPT. 9, 2021 SUMMARY JUDGMENT HEARING.
"APPELLANT CLAIMS THE OFFICERS DID NOT HAVE AUTHORIZATION TO MAKE AN ARREST, BECAUSE ON THE FACE OF THE PAGE (5) ARREST WARRANTS, AT THE FOOT, WHERE IT STATES: "SIGNATURE OF ISSUING JUDGE" THE ORIGINAL COPY PURPORTED SIGNATURE IS DIFFERENT FROM THE DEFENDANTS COPY PURPORTED SIGNATURE, FURTHERMORE EITHER OF THESE PURPORTED SIGNATURES ARE SIMILAR WITH MUNICIPAL COURT JUDGE ROBERT HARVEY O'DONNELL AUTHENTIC SIGNATURE (RH O'DONNELL) THAT APPELLANT PRODUCED INTO EVIDENCE IN THIS COMPLAINT.

CONTROLLING CASES

- A WARRANT ISSUED UPON A STATEMENT OF FACTS NOT SWORN TO IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL, NULL, AND VOID

STATE V. WIMBUSH 9 S.C. 309 (3-12-1878)

- A WARRANT NOT ISSUED IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENT OF "OATH OR AFFIRMATION" IS VOID AND AN OFFICER ATTEMPTING TO SERVE IT CAN LAWFULLY RESIST STATE V. WIMBUSH (1878)

- A WARRANT, WHICH WAS NOT SUBSCRIBED BY THE ISSUING OFFICER, WAS INSUFFICIENT TO JUSTIFY AN ARREST.

DAVIS V. SANDERS 40 S.C. 507, 19 S.C. 138 (1894)

- ABSENCE OF MAGISTRATE SIGNATURE ON SEARCH WARRANT WHEN SEARCH WARRANT WAS SERVED RENDERED THE SEARCH WARRANT INVALID UNDER GENERAL SEARCH WARRANT

STATUTE 19-13-140 STATE V. COVERT 382 S.C. 205 (1975)

S.G.2d 740 4-13-2009

- FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT PURPOSES, LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS ALLEGED ENTRANCE INTO HOME, DETENTION OF IT'S OCCUPANTS, AND REMOVAL OF THEIR CHILD FROM THEIR CUSTODY, BASED UPON FORGED, PATENTLY FALSE, FACZALLY

INVALID CUSTODY ORDER ISSUED BY NON EXISTENT COURT
AMOUNTED TO VIOLATION OF OCCUPANTS FOURTH AMENDMENT
RIGHTS. ALTHOUGH PARTIALLY VALID ARREST WARRANT,
SEARCH WARRANT, OR COURT ORDER MAY HAVE CONFERRED
CERTAIN LIMIT OF AUTHORITY TO ENTER HOME, ORDER AT
ISSUE WAS PATENTLY FORGED, AND OFFICERS USING ORDER
AS MEANS OF ENTRY THEREFORE ACTED WITHOUT AUTHORITY

TRAYLOR V. HUNT 67 F.SUPP. 2d 569 9-29-1999

- AMERICAN JURISPRUDENCE PROOF OF FACTS
HANDWRITING IN LITIGATION

CHARACTERISTIC OF FORGERY

- APPELLANT CLAIMS THE ISSUES "A-D" THAT RESPONDENTS
RAISED IN THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION ARE ALL

FRIVOLOUS. THE RECORD "APPELLANT EXHIBIT: I AND

RESPONDENTS EXHIBIT: A" SHOWS OF JUDGE O'DONNELL

VALID STATE I.D DRIVERS LICENSE WITH HIS

AUTHENTIC SIGNATURE THATS CONSISTANT WITH HIS

TESTIMONY, "RESPONDENTS EXHIBIT: A TT.P.142 LINES 14-17"

ALSO THE STAMP SIGNATURE THAT JUDGE O'DONNELL TESTIFY

70. RESPONDENTS EXHIBIT: A TT P. 141, LINES 6-25. THIS EVIDENCE

PROVES THE STATE I.D DRIVERS LICENSE AND STAMP

SIGNATURE ARE MUNICIPAL COURT JUDGE ROBERT O'DONNELL

AUTHENTIC SIGNATURE (KH O'DONNELL) RULE 901(B), (B2),
(B3)

THERE IS OVER WHELMING SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO

SHOW THE CRIME OF S.C. STATUTE 16-13-10 FORGERY TO S.C.

STATUTE 17-13-140 WARRANT REQUIREMENT.

- 1) THE STAMP SIGNATURE AND STATE I.D DRIVERS LICENSE PROVES AUTHENTICITY
- 2) THE PURPORTED SIGNATURE AND DATE ON BOTH ORIGINAL AND DEFENDANTS COPY ARE DIFFERENT ON SAID WARRANTS
- 3) WHY ARE THEY DIFFERENT? DO A JUDGE HAS TO SIGN TWICE TO MEET THE SIGNATURE REQUIREMENT?
- 4) THE SIGNATURE REVEAL AT LEAST FOUR (4) AUTHORS NOT PRINTING JUDGE O'DONNELL SIGNATURE.
- 5) THE TWO (2) BOND PROCEEDING FORM II WITH ONE (1) THE STAMP SIGNATURE OF JUDGE O'DONNELL AND THE OTHER WITH APPELLANT INITIALS, "CAD", THE PURPORTED SIGNATURE OF JUDGE O'DONNELL, AND THE DIFFERENT

CHARACTERISTIC OF THE BRIDGES THAT APPELLANT MEMBER
 A MURDERER, ELITE AFRICAN AMERICAN WOMAN BEHOLD
 63 TO 74 YEARS OF AGE THAT WAS THE AUTHOR OF THE
 INSTRUMENT ALONG WITH APPELLANT.
 6) APPELLANT: 2018A220200346 AND 346, BOTH ORIGINAL
 AND DEFENDANTS COPY ARE ALL DATED 6-21-2018 AND
 THE FORGED SIGNATURE ON ALL FOUR (4) INSTRUMENTS
 HAD DIFFERENT "CHARACTERISTIC" AND EITHER FORGED
 SIGNATURE ARE SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR TO
 RICH O'DONNELL
 7) THE INCONSISTENCY OF STATEMENTS OF THE SIGNATURE BY
 THE STATE'S WITNESSES WHO (THE STATE) KEITH POWELL
 IN THE "DEFENSE WARRANT NOTICE" HEARING THATS
 STATED, APPELLANT EXHIBIT: 4 TT P.22 LINES 24-25,
 TT P.23 LINES 22-24, ~~TT P.24 LINES 1-6~~,
 TT P.24 LINES 24 TO P.25 LINES 1, FURTHERMORE THE
 COURT JUDGE IN THAT TRIAL DID NOT HAVE ANY
 "FACIAL FINDINGS" STATED BY THE APPELLANT, AND
 SUPREME COURT, APPELLANT EXHIBIT: 4 TT P.24 LINES
 12-19 ALSO THE COURT JUDGE ALSO THE STATE

TO COMMIT THE CRIME OF S.C. STATUTE 16-9-10 PERJURY.

8) JUDGE ROBERT O'DONNELL TESTIFIED HE SIGN BOTH ORIGINAL AND DEFENDANTS COPY OF BOTH WARRANTS:

~~REDACTED~~ 2018A2220200120, AND 133,

AND ALL FOUR (4) SIGNATURES ARE NOT SUBSTANTIALY

SIMILAR WITH EACH OTHER NOR SIMILAR TO

"RH O'DONNELL" APPELLANT EXHIBIT: I AND

RESPONDENT EXHIBIT: A TT P. 135 LINES 5-25 TO P. 136

LINES 1-18 AND P. 147 LINES 5-23.

THIS IS WHEN JUDGE ROBERT O'DONNELL JUDGE

CODE: 6217 COMMITTED THE CRIME OF S.C. STATUTE

16-9-10 ~~REDACTED~~ PERJURY.

THE ISSUES RESPONDENTS RAISED IN THEIR SUMMARY

JUDGMENT MOTION ARE FRIVOLOUS. THEY WERE GRANTED

SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON RESPONDENTS EXHIBIT: A,

BECAUSE OF THIS EXHIBIT AS EVIDENCE, ARE THE COURTS

GOING TO ALLOW TESTIMONY THAT ARE "IMPONSISTANT"

WITH THE FACTS, EVIDENCE, AND TESTIMONY THATS

SET BY PRECEDENTS, SO THAT POLICE OFFICERS GET

TO KILL POTENTIAL SUSPECTS AND SAY: "I DID NOT

DO IT " GET TO ESCAPE PROSECUTION. IS THE
15TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN GEORGETOWN SC VIEW
CASES BY THE "BUDDY BUDDY SYSTEM" AS WELL AS
THE "SIM CROW SOUTH LAW" WHERE "IN THE SOUTH"
AFRICAN AMERICANS GET TREATED UNJUSTLY BECAUSE
OF THEIR RACE AND NOT BY LAW OF THE CONSTITUTION.