RECEIVED

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA **Sep 16 2022**
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE BENJAMIN H. CULBERTSON
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000948
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2021-CP-22-00158

Carlos Dennison,

APPELLANT,

versus

Georgetown City Police Department,
Officers Shephard Ban, Steven Church,
John Gregory, Judge Robert O'Donnell, and
Mayor Brendon Barbor,

RESPONDENTS.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Carmen V. Ganjehsani (S.C. Bar No. 73515)
RICHARDSON, PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, PA
Post Office Drawer 7788
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 771-4400
cganjehsani@richardsonplowden.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court’s grant of summary judgment to the Respondents should be affirmed because Appellant Dennison produced no evidence that the signatures on the arrest warrants were defective and instead improperly relied merely upon pure speculation.

This Court should affirm the Trial Court’s grant of summary judgment to the Respondents on all claims raised by Dennison in his Complaint because Dennison has produced no evidence that the warrants involved in his arrest, detention, and ultimate conviction were defective due to forgery. The only evidence in the record is that the arrest warrants were valid. Judge O’Donnell, Officer Gregory, and Officer Smith all testified under oath at the criminal trial which led to Dennison’s conviction that the warrants contained proper signatures and were not forged. They authenticated their signatures and the signatures of each other in their sworn testimony.

Officer Gregory confirmed and authenticated his own signature, Officer Steven Church’s signature, and the signature of Judge O’Donnell’s on the arrest warrants. [R.pp. ___; July 8-10, 2019 Trial Tr. pp. 83, l. 18 - 84, l. 6; 85, ll. 4-15; 86, ll. 9-18; 89, l. 11 - 91, l. 15; 94, ll. 14-25.] Officer Smith testified as to the authenticity of Judge O’Donnell’s signature on the warrants at issue. [R.pp. ___; Id. at pp. 127, l. 3- 128, l. 25.] Finally, Judge O’Donnell himself testified to the authenticity of his signature on the warrants at issue. [R.pp. ___; ___; Id. at pp. 134, l. 7 - 136, l. 18; 147, ll. 6-23.] Judge O’Donnell also testified

to the authenticity of his signature stamp used on several of the bond documents in the matter. [R.pp. ___; Id. at pp. 140, l. 24 - 142, l. 23.]

Dennison further raised this issue of the validity of the warrants due to alleged forgery to the judge presiding over his criminal trial and did not appeal his conviction on that basis. Dennison is therefore collaterally estopped from raising this issue again in this civil lawsuit. See Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 385 S.C. 550, 554, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Collateral estoppel, also known as issue preclusion, prevents a party from relitigating an issue that was decided in a previous action, regardless of whether the claims in the first and subsequent lawsuits are the same.”).

Finally, Dennison cannot rest his case on speculation or his mere allegations, but must produce actual evidence of forgery. “Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent's case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings. . . . Rather, the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial.” Ellis v. Davidson, 358 S.C. 509, 518-19, 595 S.E.2d 817, 822 (Ct. App. 2004).; see also Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991) (“Once [the] moving party carries its initial burden, [the] opposing party must, under Rule 56(e), do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts but must come forward with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. . . . Indeed, Rule 56(e) specifically prohibits the nonmoving party from resting upon the mere allegations or denials of its pleadings.”) (internal citations omitted).

Rather than coming forward with any evidence that the arrest warrants were forged, Dennison has only presented mere speculation that the arrest warrants were not properly signed. It is well-established law in this State that a non-moving party may not rely upon speculation to defeat a motion for summary judgment. Nelson v. Piggly Wiggly Cent., Inc., 390 S.C. 382, 390, 701 S.E.2d 776, 780 (Ct. App. 2010); see also Garrard v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist., 429 S.C. 170, 189, 838 S.E.2d 698, 708 (Ct. App. 2019) (observing “speculative, theoretical, and hypothetical views” may not be submitted to a jury); In re Eleanor McCarthy Lenahan Tr. under agreement Dated July 12, 2001, 428 S.C. 598, 605, 836 S.E.2d 793, 797 (Ct. App. 2019) (“A party may not create a genuine issue of material fact through speculation or guesswork.”)

Dennison presented no evidence that would create a genuine issue of material fact necessary to survive a motion for summary judgment. “[W]hen plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment should be granted.” Ellis, 358 S.C. at 518, 595 S.E.2d at 822. Accordingly, the Trial Court’s grant of summary judgment in the Respondents’ favor on all claims asserted in Dennison’s Complaint should be affirmed.¹

II. Appellant Dennison’s claims against the Respondents in their individual capacities are further barred as a matter of law under the provisions of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act.

As set forth above in Section I of the Argument, all Respondents are entitled to the grant of summary judgment on the claims asserted in Dennison’s Complaint because he

¹ Dennison also argues in his Appellant’s Brief that the Respondents and the Trial Court purportedly “filed and allowed a frivolous motion to abuse legal procedure.” Because the Trial Court’s grant of summary judgment to the Respondents was proper, this argument has no merit.

produced no evidence that the arrest warrants were defective due to any forgery. In addition, summary judgment is also proper as to the individual Respondents because Dennison's claims against them in their individual capacities are barred pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act.

The Tort Claims Act constitutes the exclusive remedy for torts committed by a government employee acting within the scope of his official duties. S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-78-70(a). In such a case, the agency or political subdivision for which the employee was acting is the proper party defendant. § 15-78-70(c). Under the Act, an employee of a governmental entity who commits a tort while acting within the scope of his official duty is immune from liability for that tort unless it is proven that the employee's conduct was not within the scope of his official duties or if it constituted "actual malice" or "intent to harm." See § 15-78-70(b).

Dennison sued Respondents Ban, Church, Gregory, Judge O'Donnell, and Mayor Barbor in their individual capacities, but he has presented no evidence that any of these individuals were acting outside the scope of their official duties or acted with actual malice or intent to harm in connection with the issuance and execution of the arrest warrants. The testimony at Dennison's July 8-10, 2019 criminal trial shows that these Respondents were acting within the proper scope of their official duties and undertook no acts which rendered the arrest warrants defective or improper. [R.pp. ___; July 8-10, 2019 Trial Tr.]

The Tort Claims Act is clear that individual government employees are not proper parties in their individual capacities when acting in the course and scope of their official

duties. As a result, the Trial Court's grant of summary judgment to the individual Respondents should be affirmed upon this ground as well.²

III. Appellant Dennison's claims for punitive damages are prohibited under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act.

The Trial Court's grant of summary judgment to the Respondents must also be affirmed on Dennison's claims for punitive damages. Punitive damages are not provided for under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. No award of damages under the Act shall include "punitive or exemplary damages or interest prior to judgment" See S.C. CODE ANN. §15-78-120(b); see also Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. State Budget & Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 7, 437 S.E.2d 6, 9 (1993) (confirming no punitive damages are recoverable under the Tort Claims Act). Therefore, the Trial Court's Order Granting Summary Judgment to the Respondents should further be affirmed to the extent Dennison seeks punitive damages.

IV. The Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act provides the exclusive remedy for a challenge to a conviction and sentence; therefore, Appellant Dennison may not seek such relief in this civil action against the Respondents.

In his Complaint and in his request for relief to this Court, Dennison demands to have his conviction and sentence vacated and to be released from prison. [R.p. ___; Compl., ¶ 21.] Dennison cannot seek such relief in this civil lawsuit against the Respondents. Instead, South Carolina's Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act provides the exclusive remedy for a challenge to the validity of a conviction or sentence: "[The Act] comprehends and takes the

² While the Trial Court did not rule upon this ground in granting the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment, "[t]he appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision, or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal." Rule 220(c), SCACR; see also I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 527 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) (holding "respondent. . . may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court").

place of all other common law, statutory or other remedies heretofore available for challenging the validity of the conviction or sentence.” S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-27-20(B); see also State v. Hall, 876 S.E.2d 328, 336 (S.C. Ct. App. 2022) (“A PCR application is the exclusive method for collateral attack upon a conviction.”); Carpenter v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 431 S.C. 512, 523, 848 S.E.2d 346, 351-52 (Ct. App. 2020) (holding plaintiff could not circumvent the procedures designated in the Post-Conviction Procedure Act by filing a civil complaint for a declaratory judgment).

Accordingly, because Dennison seeks relief only available under the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act, the Trial Court’s Order Granting Summary Judgment to the Respondents should be affirmed on this ground as well.

V. The Trial Court’s denial of Appellant Dennison’s Motion for Summary Judgment cannot be considered on appeal by this Court because the denial of a motion for summary judgment is not appealable.

In his Appellant’s Brief to this Court, Dennison also requests this Court to grant his Motion for Summary Judgment which the Trial Court denied on September 9, 2021 in a Form 4 Order. [R.pp. ___; Form 4 Order.] The denial of a motion for summary judgment, however, is not appealable. See Ballenger v. Bowen, 313 S.C. 476, 476, 443 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1994) (“This [c]ourt has repeatedly held that the denial of summary judgment is not directly appealable.”); Watson v. Underwood, 407 S.C. 443, 459 n.12, 756 S.E.2d 155, 164 n.12 (Ct. App. 2014) (“The denial of summary judgment is never appealable, even after final judgment.”); id. at 457, 756 S.E.2d at 163 (“Because the denial of a motion for summary judgment cannot be appealed, [the court] cannot consider this issue.”). As such, this Court cannot review Dennison’s Motion for Summary Judgment which was denied by the Trial Court. In any event, the Respondents have shown both to the Trial Court and this

Court that they were properly entitled to the grant of summary judgment on each of Dennison's claims in his Complaint. Therefore, Dennison is not entitled to the grant of his Motion for Summary Judgment.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, the Respondents respectfully request this Court to affirm the Trial Court's grant of summary judgment on each of the claims asserted in Appellant Dennison's Complaint.